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Statement of the Management

The first year of the new century is gone leaving the Latvian economy in a better shape than before: the country is
steadily gaining strength and putting many of the investment risk factors behind. Latvia in 2001 was among the
fastest growing economies in the world. The year 2001 was equally successful and promising for Unibanka. In
many aspects the Bank’s financial performance was better than expected at the beginning of the year. The Bank
continues to grow at a stable and fast pace at the same time retaining high profitability. Successfully pursuing the
goals of its strategic plan Unibanka at the end of 2001 continued to be the largest provider of banking services to
the corporate sector of Latvia. Together with the other SEB group banks in Lithuania and Estonia it constitutes
the most influential financial group in the Baltic region.

 We are accustomed to the fact that Unibanka belongs to one of the largest financial groups of Scandinavia. In the
midst of a slowdown of the global economy in the reporting period the SEB group enjoyed stability. The base of
private and corporate customers in the whole SEB group as well as in Unibanka is strong and the guiding
principle of our future operations should be to provide our customers with quality banking services and to further
boost our business keeping high development tempo.

As the Bank’s business environment improved, the volumes and competition grew. One of Unibanka’s priorities
in 2001 was further sophistication of customer service. One of the preconditions for implementation of this goal
in the reporting period was the introduction of essentially new information technologies as means of expanding
the range of electronic services and providing the latest information for decision-making process in the Bank.
Unibanka with its earlier investments in upgrading of information and telecommunication technologies (ITT)
have created a stable basis for   further modernisation of the ITT infrastructure which will ultimately enable
Unibanka to compete in the banking business internationally. 

In 2001 the Bank continued to increase the number of services via electronic channels and was the first credit
institution in Latvia to provide its Internet bank customers with the opportunity to put their funds on term deposit
via ibanka. The year-end statistical data show that the Bank’s investments in the development of e-services are
yielding fruit. Unibanka’s customers in 2001 increasingly resorted to various forms of e-payments. The number
of ibanka users doubled to 56 thousand and the number of each individual’s transactions in the Internet bank also
grew.

In the reporting period Unibanka was very active in expanding its e-services network: new ATM/POS and ibanka
terminals were installed. At the same time constant attention was paid to the efficiency of the network. A new
development in the reporting period was the agreement of two banks – Unibanka and Pirmā banka – to merge
their ATM networks and jointly serve their customers without charging interbank commissions. The merged
ATM network now is the largest in Latvia and these services have become more easily accessible by the
customers of both banks in every city of Latvia.

The range of services in 2001 was enriched by new lending products. In the spring of 2001 Unibanka launched its
Construction Loan as the first step on the customer’s way to the Mortgage Loan. The Bank contributed to the
development of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in Latvia by offering its customers a special
Business Loan with an easy processing procedure which will be attractive to medium, small and micro-
businesses, and self-employed individuals. Unibanka continued its well-established co-operation with the
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development in financing of SMEs: at the end of 2001 a new credit line
of 10 million euros was opened with a maturity of five years. A similar credit line was successfully operated in
Unibanka in 2000 and within its limit more than 725 loans were granted to SMEs all over Latvia, of which more
than 80% went to businesses outside Riga and almost 20% were distributed to agricultural companies. 

Unibanka as a member of the SEB group has the opportunity to bring new, hereto unfamiliar services to the
Latvian market. Thus in the reporting period Unibanka was the first bank in Latvia to start public trading of
investment funds – a highly demanded investment product world-wide. Unibanka is selling its customers SEB
investment funds. 
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Statement of the Management (continued)

Consistent introduction of new, efficient technologies in the reporting period provided Unibanka with the
opportunity to start decentralisation of branch operations and add a greater impact to the business and customer
service in the branches outside Riga. Instead of the former Eastern and Western Regions Unibanka has created
six new regions with Riga standing apart as before as the seventh region. This branch co-operation model has
been chosen for its greater closeness to the customer that greatly increases the speed of the decision making
process. The new regional managers have been assigned considerably greater discretionary limits. The new
model gives greater freedom for decision making within the region accepting the fact that the local staff has
better knowledge of the situation there and are capable to take full responsibility for the decisions that hitherto
have been taken at the centralised level. The Bank made these changes with the view of promoting businesses in
the regions. After consolidation of the branches outside Riga into new regions, Unibanka has started restructuring
of its business in Riga. New branches are opened and a new management of the Riga region established. Instead
of the former four branches there will be eight branches in Riga. This restructuring is aimed at increasing the
efficiency of various day-to-day operations throughout the region in order to release its branches and sub-
branches from administrative and similar functions and allow them to focus on the service quality and attraction
of new business. 

 For its customers convenience of Unibanka in the reporting period opened four new sub-branches. With
expansion of its branch network the Bank is trying to come within easy reach of its customers. Yet, in line with
the new developments, the basic functions of the Bank’s branches and sub-branches change. In 2001 Unibanka
saw its priority in proactive co-operation with its customers where the Bank officers help the customers manage
their finances with maximum benefit, advise them on the Bank’s services, their use and new products introduced
by the Bank. At the same time the routine technical operations are gradually being technologically streamlined so
that the customer does not need to visit the bank to make a minor transaction.

Unibanka’s consolidated financial results for 2001 show stable year-on-year growth. Unibanka’s Group assets in
twelve months grew by 30% to Ls 591.3 million. At the end of the year Unibanka had the largest loan portfolio in
the Latvian banking sector that over the year had grown by 51% to Ls 437.6 million at the same time retaining
good loan quality. The customers’ deposits in Unibanka were 20% up to Ls 332.3 million. The Bank’s operating
income of Ls 37.9 million was 11% bigger than in 2000. The net profit for 2001 was Ls 11.7 million meeting the
target figure. 

Unibanka is determined to hold its influence and its leading position in the Latvian banking sector as the largest
provider of banking services to businesses in Latvia. The Bank will continue to pursue its strategy of modern,
high quality servicing of its customers so that together with the other SEB group banks in the Baltic it is the
leader in the banking sector of this region. 

 We would like to use this opportunity to express our appreciation to all the customers and business partners of
Unibanka for fruitful co-operation, and to thank our staff for their commitment to Unibanka’s continuous
development, and to wish everybody success in the future work.

                         
Mats Kjaer

Chairman of the Council
Andris Bērziņš

President/
Chairman of the Board

Riga,
12 February 2002
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The Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank

As at 31 December 2001: Date of appointment

The Supervisory Council

Mats Kjaer Chairman of the Council 05/01/99

Viktors Kulbergs Member of the Council 25/08/93

Tord-Martin Olofsson Member of the Council 02/06/97

Kristīne Čakste Member of the Council 30/03/98

Juris Padegs Member of the Council 30/03/98

Gundars Strautmanis Member of the Council 30/03/99

Mikael Bjorknert Member of the Council 16/12/99

The Board of Directors

Andris Bērziņš Chairman of the Board and President 18/08/93 

Viesturs Neimanis Deputy Chairman of the Board and Executive Vice President 30/03/98

Kazimirs Šļakota Member of the Board and Vice President 30/03/98

Māris Treimanis Member of the Board and Vice President 16/12/99

Juris Jākobsons Member of the Board and Vice President 16/12/99

Pontus Sardal Member of the Board and Vice President 16/12/99

Ainārs Ozols Member of the Board and Vice President 21/03/01

On 21 March 2001 at AGM Ainārs Ozols was approved as a member of the Board. On 21 November 2001 Pontus
Sardal submitted his resignation from membership of the Board as of 1 January 2002.

On 18 January 2002 Juris Jākobsons has left the Board.
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Statement of Responsibility of the Management

The Management of A/s “Latvijas Unibanka” (the Bank) are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group) as well as for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Bank.

The financial statements on pages 7 to 48 are prepared in accordance with the source documents and present
fairly the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2001 and the results of its operations and cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2001 as well as the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2001 and
the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2001.  

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards on a going concern
basis.  Appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent basis.  Prudent and reasonable
judgements and estimates have been made by the Management in the preparation of the financial statements.

The Management of A/s “Latvijas Unibanka” are responsible for the maintenance of proper accounting records,
the safeguarding of the Group’s assets and the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities in the
Group.  They are also responsible for operating the Bank in compliance with the Law on Credit Institutions,
regulations of the Bank of Latvia, Finance and Capital Market Commission and other legislation of the Republic
of Latvia applicable for credit institutions.

                             
Mats Kjaer

Chairman of the Council
Andris Bērziņš

President/
Chairman of the Board

Riga,
12 February 2002
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To the shareholders of A/s Latvijas Unibanka

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of A/s Latvijas Unibanka (the Group) and the
financial statements of A/s Latvijas Unibanka (the Bank) for the year ended 31 December 2001 set out on pages 7
to 48. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank’s management, as referred to on page 5. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and the Bank
as of 31 December 2001 and of the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Accounting Standards.

PricewaterhouseCoopers SIA
Kr. Valdemāra iela 19
Rīga LV 1010
Latvija
Telephone +371 709 4400
Facsimile +371 783 0055
6

PricewaterhouseCoopers SIA

12 February 2002
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Statement of Income
for the year ended 31 December 2001

2001 2000
Notes Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Interest income 4 39,347 36,177 31,153 29,922
Interest expense 4 (15,482) (15,433) (12,972) (12,983)
Net interest income 4 23,865 20,744 18,181 16,939

Commission and fee income 5 12,082 11,302 12,159 11,502
Commission and fee expense 5 (1,938) (1,894) (1,959) (1,949)
Net commission and fee income 5 10,144 9,408 10,200 9,553

Dividends received 19 19 23 23

Profit on securities trading and foreign exchange, net 6 3,415 3,324 4,873 4,950
Other operating income 7 450 377 840 640
Operating income 37,893 33,872 34,117 32,105

Administrative expense 8, 9 (17,760) (16,999) (16,889) (16,225)
Amortisation and depreciation charge (4,256) (3,587) (3,095) (2,716)

Provision expense for possible credit losses 10 (4,433) (4,433) (5,369) (5,285)
Release of previously established provision 10 3,763 3,375 4,920 5,077

Profit on revaluation of long-term investments, net (45) 2,291 - 473

Profit before corporate taxes 15,162 14,519 13,684 13,429

Corporate taxes 11 (3,462) (2,819) (3,311) (3,064)

Net profit before minority interest 11,700 11,700 10,373 10,365

Minority interest - - (8) -

Net profit for the year 11,700 11,700 10,365 10,365

Earnings per share (in lats per share) 12 0.315 0.315 0.279 0.279

The financial statements on pages 7 to 48 have been approved by the management of the Bank and signed on its
behalf by:

                         
Mats Kjaer

Chairman of the Council
Andris Bērziņš

President/
Chairman of the Board

Riga,
12 February 2002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet and Memorandum Items
as at 31 December 2001

31/12/01 31/12/00
Notes Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Assets
Cash and deposits with the Bank of Latvia 13 34,235 34,235 24,943 24,943
Balances due from credit institutions 14 17,859 17,790 61,634 61,483
Loans and advances to non-banking customers 15-18 437,582 434,211 289,617 287,871
Trading securities 19 393 393 567 567
Investment securities 20-21
    - available-for-sale 56,562 56,562 43,645 43,645
    - held-to-maturity 2,796 2,796 3,223 3,223
Derivative financial instruments 22 5,786 5,786 - -
Investments in subsidiaries 23 324 6,008 324 3,795
Goodwill 23 171 - 233 -
Property and equipment 24 28,814 26,321 25,480 24,231
Other assets 3,686 1,180 1,731 1,463
Prepayments and accrued income, including tax 25 3,128 2,590 2,633 2,176
Total assets 591,336 587,872 454,030 453,397

Liabilities
Bonds issued and other debt securities 26 - - 5,453 5,453
Balances due to credit institutions 27 173,557 173,557 105,062 105,062
Deposits from the public 28 332,250 332,505 277,221 278,749
Derivative financial instruments 22 6,557 6,557 - -
Other liabilities, including tax liability 29 4,226 1,724 4,181 2,394
Accrued expense 30 3,641 2,618 2,901 2,657
Provision for liabilities and charges 31 3,754 3,560 3,917 3,819

523,985 520,521 398,735 398,134

Minority interest - - 32 -
Subordinated liabilities 32 11,096 11,096 10,661 10,661
Total liabilities 535,081 531,617 409,428 408,795

Shareholders' equity
Paid-in share capital 33 37,106 37,106 37,106 37,106
Share premium 3,565 3,565 3,565 3,565
Legal and other reserves 203 203 203 203
Unappropriated retained earnings 15,381 15,381 3,728 3,728
Total shareholders' equity 56,255 56,255 44,602 44,602

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 591,336 587,872 454,030 453,397

Memorandum items
Funds under trust management 34 1,068 1,068 933 933
Contingent liabilities 34 9,350 9,350 7,378 7,491
Financial commitments 34 48,444 42,571 43,361 44,742
Foreign exchange transactions, net 34 814 814 (1,333) (1,333)

The financial statements on pages 7 to 48 have been approved by the management of the Bank and signed on its
behalf by:

Mats Kjaer
Chairman of the Council

Riga, 
12 February 2002

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the
Andris Bērziņš
President/

Chairman of the Board

se financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2001

Notes Paid-in
share

capital

Share
premium

Legal and
other

reserves

Unappro-
priated

earnings

Total
shareholders’

equity
Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000

Balance at 1 January 2000 37,106 3,565 203 (3,854) 37,020
    Dividends paid - - - (2,783) (2,783)
    Net result for the year - - - 10,365 10,365
Balance at 31 December 2000 37,106 3,565 203 3,728 44,602

Balance at 1 January 2001 37,106 3,565 203 3,728 44,602
    
    Effect of adopting IAS 39
    -  derivative instruments 22 - - - (47) (47)
    As restated at 1 January 2001 37,106 3,565 203 3,681 44,555

    Net result for the year - - - 11,700 11,700
Balance at 31 December 2001 37,106 3,565 203 15,381 56,255

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



A/s Latvijas Unibanka
Annual Report

for the year ended 31 December 2001

10

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2001

2001 2000
Notes Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Cash inflow/ (outflow) from operating activities

Profit before taxation 15,162 14,519 13,684 13,429
Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and property

and equipment 4,438 3,780 3,029 2,713
Increase in provisions for possible credit losses 670 1,058 449 208
(Profit) /loss from revaluation of foreign currency 6 (694) (603) 1,465 1,465
(Profit) from revaluation of long-term investments (152) (2,381) - (473)
Loss from sale of tangible property and equipment 389 31 7 51
Profit from sale of associated entity (26) (26) (210) (207)
(Increase)/ decrease in prepayments and accrued income (548) (465) 1,170 692
Increase/ (decrease) in accrued expense 740 (39) 785 634
(Increase)/ decrease in other assets (1,833) 419 (591) (504)
Increase in other liabilities 1,406 851 1,407 430
(Decrease)/ increase in provisions for liabilities and charges (1,356) (1,375) 1,442 1,442
Minority interest (32) - 3 -

Increase in cash and cash equivalents before changes in assets
and liabilities, as a result of ordinary operations 18,164 15,769 22,640 19,880

(Increase) in short-term investments (12,745) (12,745) (88) (88)
(Increase)/ decrease in balances due from credit institutions 23,751 23,669 (14,322) (14,171)
(Increase) in loans and advances to customers (147,975) (146,738) (86,142) (85,604)
Increase in balances due to credit institutions 68,495 68,495 15,331 15,331
Increase in deposits from the public 55,029 53,756 83,081 84,214

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 
from operating activities before corporate taxes 4,719 2,206 20,500 19,562

Corporate taxes
Corporate income tax paid (3,132) (2,786) - -
Tax overpayment refunded - - 1,769 1,769

Net cash and cash equivalents from operating activities 1,587 (580) 22,269 21,331

Cash inflow/ (outflow) from investing activities
(Purchase) of property and equipment (8,361) (6,040) (9,406) (8,260)
Sale/ (purchase) of equity investments in other entities and other

long-term investments 560 560 (8,337) (8,337)
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - (324) (324)
Sale of investments in associated entity 90 90 307 307
Sale of property and equipment 149 86 242 41

Increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
from investing activities (7,562) (5,304) (17,518) (16,573)

Cash inflow/ (outflow) from financing activities
Issue of subordinated loans - - - -
Issue/ (refunding) of certificates of deposits (5,453) (5,453) 5,453 5,453
Dividend (payments) - - (2,783) (2,783)

Increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from financing
activities (5,453) (5,453) 2,670 2,670

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) for the period (11,428) (11,337) 7,421 7,428

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 35 58,817 58,817 52,861 52,854

Profit/ (loss) from revaluation of foreign currency 6 694 603 (1,465) (1,465)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 35 48,083 48,083 58,817 58,817

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Figures in brackets represent the data as at 31 December 2000 unless stated otherwise) 

Note 1 The economic and banking environment 

 The year 2001 saw steady growth of macroeconomic figures in Latvia and implementation of prudent economic
and fiscal policies. Latvia for the second consecutive year demonstrated the fastest economic growth among the
EU candidates enhanced both by domestic consumption and the relatively greater economic growth in the Baltic
region, Russia and Eastern Europe. The London-based group of financial analysts Economist Intelligence Unit
has named Latvia the leader in 2001 among the emerging economies in terms of the progress achieved in
macroeconomics and economic policy. 
 
 The success story of Latvia’s structural reforms and macroeconomic stability is further supported by the rating
agencies Standard & Poor’s, Fitch IBCA and Moody’s who have retained their investment grading of Latvia. For
long-term loans in foreign currency Latvia has been assigned by Standard & Poor’s BBB, Moody’s Baa 2 and
Fitch IBCA BBB.
 
  In the first quarter of 2001 GDP gained 8.3% (6.1%) year on year and in the second quarter it grew already by
9.1% (5.0%) – a record figure in recent years. The third quarter saw solid growth of 6.3% (6.6%). The same trend
is expected to have continued in the fourth quarter. Generally in 2001 GDP is forecasted  to grow by 7.3 – 7.5%
(6.6%). In the second half of the year Latvia has succeeded in maintaining steady economic growth in the midst
of stagnation and even recession in the global economy.
 
 It is important to note the balanced development of all industries in 2001 which is a positive development
compared with the previous years. The importance of the services sector in the economy of Latvia is great and its
share of 71% of GDP is the highest in the Eastern and Central Europe. Apart from the stable development of the
services sector, industry also demonstrated good growth in 2001, particularly many branches of manufacturing. 
 
The reporting period saw a considerable decrease in the budget deficit – almost by half from 2.8% to 1.5% of
GDP. Latvia’s foreign trade grew livelier with exports increasing by 13% and imports by 15% over the first 11
months of 2001. Unfortunately, the foreign trade balance remained negative with the imports exceeding exports
by 73% (69%). This negative balance, however, was offset by the income earned from services and the stable
inflow of foreign direct investments. The current account deficit of the balance of payments in the last two years
has stabilised at the level of 7-8% of GDP. At the same time, more foreign currency flew into Latvia than was
needed for financing of the operations in the current account thus maintaining the balance of payments positive. 

 Consumer prices in 2001 grew by 3.2% (1.8%), and the average inflation was 2.5% (2.6%). The level of
unemployment remained practically unchanged and at the end of the year stood at 7.7% (7.8%). 

The Latvian monetary unit – the lat (Ls) – is fully convertible against most other currencies. The Bank of Latvia
has pegged the exchange rate of the lat to the International Monetary Fund Special Drawing Right (SDR). Since
introduction of the lat its exchange rate (see paragraph e) under Note 3) has remained stable. In the reporting
year the fluctuations of the exchange rates of foreign currencies against the lat were determined by the
fluctuations among these currencies in the global foreign exchange markets. The national currency in circulation
was fully covered with gold and foreign convertible currencies and the foreign convertible currency reserve was
sufficient to cover imports for approximately 3.8 months. 

At the end of 2001 there were 23 (22) licensed commercial banks in Latvia (including 1 (1) branch of a foreign
commercial bank), 22 (17) licensed savings and loan associations and the representative office of Dresdner Bank
AG (Germany). Among the shareholders of the Latvian banks there are Swedish, German, Finnish, Estonian and
Russian banks. Restructuring of the Latvian banking sector has been completed. The absolute majority of the
banks are privatised and only 1 (1) bank is fully state-owned and 1 other (1) has a minority government stake in
it. Although the total number of the banks operating in Latvia is relatively large, the banking business is
concentrated in a few largest banks. At the end of 2001 20 (21) commercial banks in Latvia, including
A/s “Latvijas Unibanka”, and the aforementioned branch of the foreign bank were allowed to accept the deposits
from private individuals.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 1 The economic and banking environment (continued)

On 1 July 2001 the Finance and Capital Market Commission commenced its work in  Latvia. It acts on the basis
of the Law on the Finance and Capital Market Commission passed by Saeima (Parliament) of the Republic of
Latvia on 1 June 2000. The Commission regulates and supervises the financial and capital markets and operations
of their participants. Its goal is to protect the interests of investors, depositors and ensured persons and promote
the development and stability of the market. With the establishment of the new institution the Bank of Latvia has
ceased to supervise the credit institutions in the Republic of Latvia. 

As from 1 January 2000 the minimum equity requirement for all the banks is Euro 5 million converted into lats at
the Bank of Latvia quoted exchange rate. The Financial and Capital Markets Commission sets other limitations
and standards to the banks and demands observation of the acts regulating activities of the credit institutions. 

In 2001 the average weighted interest rate for short-term lat deposits in the commercial banks of Latvia grew
from 4.2% to 5.7%, and for long-term deposits slightly dropped from 7% to 6.8%. At the same time, there was a
conspicuous drop in the deposit rates in foreign currency, for short-term deposits – from 5.9% to 3%, and for
long-term deposits – from 6.5% to 4.8%.

During the year 2001 the average weighted interest rate for short-term loans in lats fell from 11.8% to 9.9%,
while for long-term loans it stood at 9.8%. At the same time, the average weighted interest rate for loans in
foreign currency plunged from 12.1% to 7.1% for short-term loans and from 10.4% to 5.6% for long-term loans.

Note 2 Incorporation and principal activities

A/s “Latvijas Unibanka” received a license for banking operations on 23 September 1993. On 28 September 1993
it was registered with the Republic of Latvia Register of Enterprises as a state commercial bank established by
combining 21 former branches of the Bank of Latvia. In 1995 privatisation of Unibanka was commenced. 

In 1998 the Bank attracted a strategic investor from Sweden - SEB (Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken). The
strategic investment was raised by a directed issue of 8.55 million new shares. SEB bought all the share issue at
the price of 1.33 lats for a share. At the special auction on 11 February 1999 SEB bought all the remaining shares
of A/s “Latvijas Unibanka” held by the State in the person of the Latvian Privatisation Agency – 2.17 million in
total paying Ls 1.27 per share. A few days later SEB bought all 5,714,553 Bank’s shares held by the EBRD at the
price of Ls 1.36 per share. In total, by 31 December 1999 SEB had acquired 50.5% of A/s “Latvijas Unibanka”
shares.

On 28 August 2000 SEB announced a cash offer for the remaining shares of A/s “Latvijas Unibanka”. As the
result of the offer SEB acquired 98.4% of shares in A/s “Latvijas Unibanka” at the price of Ls 2.05. Thus A/s
“Latvijas Unibanka” became a full-fledged member of the SEB Group. 

On 31 December 2001 SEB held 98.7% of shares in A/s “Latvijas Unibanka”. 

In terms of assets, loans, deposits and shareholders’ equity A/s “Latvijas Unibanka” ranks as 1st –3rd  bank in the
commercial banking sector of Latvia. 

 In July 2001 the rating agency Moody’s assigned A/s “Latvijas Unibanka” the following deposit ratings:

 Long-term deposit rating in foreign currency Baa3 
 Short-term deposit rating Prime-3 
 Bank’s financial strength rating  D+
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 2 Incorporation and principal activities (continued)

The majority of the Bank’s clients are residents of Latvia and A/s “Latvijas Unibanka” is the largest provider of
banking services to Latvia residents. In total at the end of 2001 Unibanka serviced more than 467 thousand (354
thous.) call deposits, 36 thousand (25 thous.) term deposits and 30 thousand (27 thous.) outstanding loan
accounts. By the end of the reporting period the Bank had attracted almost 56 thousand Internet bank (IBANKA)
users. By 31 December 2001 apart from the Bank’s central office there were 30 (30) branches and 37 (40) sub-
branches offering a vast range of services to the clients all over Latvia.

Region Branches Sub-branches Total

Riga, the capital of Latvia 5   (5) 17 (13) 22 (18)
Vidzeme, excluding Riga 11 (11) 7   (8) 18 (19)
Latgale 4   (4) 5   (6)  9 (10)
Kurzeme 6   (6) 7   (6) 13 (12)
Zemgale       4   (4)      1   (7)   5 (11)

30 (30) 37 (40) 67 (70)

A/s “Latvijas Unibanka” provides universal commercial banking services both to the corporate customers and
private persons and constantly improves and upgrades its product range. The Bank accepts both call and time
deposits, issues short- and long-term loans, makes domestic and international transfers in all the major currencies,
performs foreign exchange operations, buys and sells securities, offers trade finance services, safe-keeping of the
clients’ valuables, brokerage services, etc. The Bank’s top priority is active development of electronic service
channels.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies all of which have been applied consistently (unless otherwise
stated) throughout the year ended 31 December 2001, is set out below:

a) Reporting Currency

The accompanying financial statements are reported in thousands of lats (Ls 000’s), unless otherwise stated.

b) Basis of Accounting

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards. The financial
statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale
investment securities, financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading and all derivative contracts.

In 2001 the Group adopted IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The financial effects of
adopting IAS 39 are reported in the Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity. Further
information is disclosed in accounting policies for Derivative financial instruments and hedging, Trading
securities, Investment securities and purchased loans and receivables, and Originated loans and provisions for
loan impairment and in related Notes.

Prior to adoption of IAS 39, all debt and equity securities, except for trading securities, were measured at
amortised cost or cost respectively, providing only for permanent value impairments. IAS 39 has been applied
prospectively in accordance with the requirements of this standard and therefore comparative financial
information has not been restated.

c) Basis of Consolidation

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are consolidated in the Group’s financial statements on a line by line
basis by adding together like items of assets and liabilities as well as income and expenses.  For the purposes of
consolidation, intra-group balances and intra-group transactions including interest income and expense as well as
unrealised profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the Group’s financial
statements. Investments in subsidiaries in the Bank’s financial statements are accounted for under the equity
method.

d) Income and Expense Recognition

All significant interest income and expense items are recognised on an accrual basis. 

No interest income is recognised on non-performing loans and advances (see paragraph i)) in which interest is
unlikely to be collected.  The recognition of interest income ceases when the payment of interest or principal is in
doubt and accrued interest is automatically provided for. 

Commissions incurred in respect of long-term funding provided by financial institutions are capitalised as
prepayments and amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining loan term. Other commissions and fees are
credited and/ or charged to the statement of income as earned/ incurred.

e) Foreign Currency Translation

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in lats at actual rates of exchange set forth by the
Bank of Latvia at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into lats at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the period. Any gain or loss resulting from a
change in rates of exchange subsequent to the date of the transaction is included in the statement of income as a
profit or loss from revaluation of foreign currency positions.
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Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

The principal rates of exchange (Ls to 1 foreign currency unit) set forth by the Bank of Latvia and used in the
preparation of the Bank’s balance sheet were as follows:

Reporting date USD EUR DEM SEK RUR

As at 31 December 2001 0.638 0.560856 0.286761 0.0590 0.0211
As at 31 December 2000 0.613 0.570042 0.291458 0.0642 0.0216

f) Corporate taxes

Corporate income tax at the rate of 25% is calculated in accordance with Latvian tax regulations and is based on
the taxable income reported for the taxation period.

Deferred taxation arising from temporary differences in the timing of the recognition of items the tax returns and
these financial statements is calculated using the liability method. Deferred taxation relates to the future tax
consequences of all events that have been recognised in the Bank’s financial statements or tax returns. The
deferred taxation liability is determined based on the tax rates that are expected to apply when the temporary
timing differences reverse. The principal temporary timing differences arise from differing rates of accounting
and tax depreciation on buildings, transport vehicles and office equipment, as well as general provisions created
for possible credit losses and accruals for employee vacation expenses.

g) Earnings per Share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the attributable profit for the period by the weighted average
number of shares in issue during the period.

h) Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are defined as the
amounts comprising cash and demand deposits with the Bank of Latvia and other credit institutions as well as
Latvian Treasury bills eligible for refinancing with the Bank of Latvia with maturity of 3 months or less from the
date of acquisition, excluding those bills which are placed as collateral security at the end of the reporting period.

i) Loans and Advances to Non-Banking Customers and Provisions for loan impairment

Loans and advances to non-banking customers are carried at amortised cost.

For the purposes of these financial statements, finance lease receivables are included in loans and advances to
non-banking customers.

Non-performing loans and advances to customers including banking institutions are defined as loans and other
credit balances in which contractually due interest or principal is 30 days or more overdue, or the Management
otherwise believe that the contractual interest or principal due will not be collected. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present value of expected
cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the interest rate at
inception. 

The Bank has granted commercial and consumer loans to customers throughout its market area. The economic
condition of the market area may have an impact on the borrowers' ability to repay their debts. The Management
and Directors of the Bank have considered both specific and general risks in determining the balance of
provisions for possible credit losses. Provisions for possible credit losses are established in accordance with IAS
and represent the estimated amounts of probable losses that have been incurred at the balance sheet date. The
specific element of the provision relates to credits that have been identified as potentially doubtful. The specific
provision is determined after individually reviewing all significant credits for potentially uncollectable amounts.
The general element of the provision relates to the potential losses, which experience indicates are present in the
Bank’s portfolio of loans and advances to customers, but have not yet been specifically identified.
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Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

When a loan or advance has been classified as non-performing or of high risk, a provision for possible credit
losses is established for that specific loan or advance for the amount of the outstanding balance which is deemed
uncollectable. The value of collateral held in connection with loans and advances is based on the estimated
realisable value of the asset and is taken into account when estimating the required provision.

The provision for possible credit losses is composed of estimated figures for the following:

-  specific provision for credits identified as potentially doubtful and high risk
-  general provision for the Bank's total exposure to:

∗ credit concentration risk
∗ possible measures implemented to improve impaired customers' financial position
∗ general market or operating events that have or have yet to occur, prior or subsequent to the

balance sheet date, for which a specific credit risk provision is not yet quantifiable.

The level of the provisions is based on estimates considering relevant factors including, but not limited to, the
Bank’s past loan loss experience, known and inherent risks in the portfolio of loans and advances, adverse
situations that may affect the borrowers’ ability to repay, the estimated value of any underlying collateral and
current economic conditions as well as other relevant factors affecting loan and advance collectability and
collateral values.  Ultimate losses may vary from the current estimates. These estimates are reviewed
periodically, and as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the period in which they
become known. The Management and Directors of the Bank have made their best estimates of losses and believe
those estimates presented in the financial statements are reasonable in light of available information.

When loans and advances cannot be recovered, they are written off and charged against provision for possible
credit losses. They are not written off until all the necessary legal procedures have been completed and the
amount of the loss is finally determined.

j) Leases - when the Group is a lessor

The rights and obligations from a finance lease at inception of the lease are recognised at the lower of the fair
value of the leased property or the present value of minimum lease payments.

Net investments in finance lease are recorded in the balance sheet net of interest, taxes and related provision. 

Assets under operating leases are recognised as fixed assets that are depreciated. The assets under operating lease
are recognised at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of assets under operating lease is
calculated on the difference between historic costs and estimated residual value at the end of the useful life.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of fixed assets.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payments over the lease term that the
lessee is, or can be required, to make, as well as a residual value guaranteed to the lessor.

Rentals receivable under operating leases are credited to the statement of income as interest income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

k) Sale and Repurchase Agreements

These agreements are accounted for as financing transactions. Under sale and repurchase agreements, where the
Bank is the transferor, assets transferred remain on the Bank’s balance sheet and are subject to the Bank’s usual
accounting policies, with the purchase price received included as a liability owed to the transferee. Where the
Bank is the transferee, the assets are not included in the Bank’s balance sheet, but the purchase price paid by it to
the transferor is included as an asset.  Interest income or expense arising from outstanding sale and repurchase
agreements is recognised in the statement of income over the term of the agreement.
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Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

l) Trading securities

Investments in listed shares and privatisation certificates are held by the Bank for trading purposes and recorded
at their market value. All gains and losses from revaluation and trading in these securities are reported in the
income statement.

m) Investment securities

Treasury bills and other fixed income securities are held by the Bank for liquidity purposes, except for credit
linked notes and promissory notes which are held for investment purposes. Securities held for liquidity purposes
are classified as available-for-sale, and securities held for investment purposes - as held-to-maturity.

Available-for-sale fixed income securities are stated at fair value based on quoted market prices. All gains and
losses from revaluation and trading in these securities are reported in the income statement.

Held-to-maturity fixed income securities are stated at cost plus amortised discount, less any provision, where, in
the opinion of the Management, an other than temporary diminution in value has occurred.

Investments in Short term money management account and in the open-end investment fund are held by the Bank
for liquidity purposes and classified as available-for-sale. These investments are stated at fair value and all gains
and losses from revaluation are reported in the income statement.

n) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net
assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition is reported in the balance
sheet as an intangible asset and is amortised using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the
goodwill of five years.

o) Property and Equipment

All property and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined
by reference to their carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating profit.

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset to their residual value
over the estimated useful life of the asset. Assets under the course of construction and works of art are not
depreciated. The following depreciation rates have been applied:

Category Annual Rate

Buildings 2 %
Transport vehicles 20 %
EDP equipment 25 %
Servers, ATM, POS Terminal 16.67 %
Software 12.5-20 %
Furniture 10 %
Other office equipment 7 %
Mobile phones 33.33 %

Maintenance and repair costs are charged to the statement of income as incurred.

p) Leasehold Improvements

Leasehold improvements are capitalised and depreciated over the remaining lease contract period on a straight-
line basis.
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Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

q) Derivative financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments including foreign exchange contracts, currency and interest rate swaps, currency
options (both written and purchased) and other derivative financial instruments are initially recognized in the
balance sheet at cost (including transaction costs) and subsequently are remeasured at their fair value. Fair values
are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and options pricing models as appropriate.
All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are reported in the income statement.

r) Provision for Employee Holiday Pay

The provision for employee holiday pay is estimated for the Bank’s personnel based on the total number of
holidays earned but not taken, multiplied by the average daily remuneration expense for the preceding 2 months
including social security expense.

s) Off-balance Sheet Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank has been involved with off-balance sheet financial instruments
consisting of commitments to extend loans and advances, financial guarantees and commercial letters of credit.
Such financial instruments are recorded in the financial statements when they are funded or related fees are
incurred or received. The methodology for provisioning against off-balance sheet instruments is consistent with
that adopted for loans and advances to customers as described in paragraph i) above.

t) Trust Activities

Funds managed by the Bank on behalf of individuals, trusts and other institutions are not regarded as assets of the
Bank and, therefore, are not included in the balance sheet.

u) Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm's length transaction.  Where, in the opinion of the Management, the fair values of
financial assets and liabilities differ materially from their book values, such fair values are separately disclosed in
the notes to the accounts.
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Note 4 Interest income and expense 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank
Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000

Interest income:
- interest on balances due from credit institutions 1,401 1,401 2,588 2,586
- interest on loans and advances to non-banking customers 35,069 31,899 25,560 24,331
- interest on Treasury bills and other fixed income securities 2,877 2,877 3,005 3,005

Total interest income 39,347 36,177 31,153 29,922
Interest expense:

- interest on balances due to credit institutions (5,570) (5,570) (4,907) (4,907)
- interest on deposits from the public (8,673) (8,624) (6,696) (6,707)
- interest on subordinated liabilities (688) (688) (956) (956)
- interest on bonds issued and debt securities (204) (204) (195) (195)
- other interest expense (347) (347) (218) (218)

Total interest expense (15,482) (15,433) (12,972) (12,983)
Net interest income 23,865 20,744 18,181 16,939

Note 5 Commission and fee income and expense

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Commission and fee income:

- payment transfer fee 3,284 3,284 3,181 3,181
- fee for review of  loan applications 2,031 1,833 2,437 2,437
- service fee for account maintenance 1,591 1,591 1,505 1,505
- commission on cash operation 1,188 1,188 1,261 1,261
- commission on cash collection 524 524 549 549
- commission on transactions with settlement cards 2,453 2,453 1,975 1,975
- commission on financial instruments 117 117 133 133
- commission on guarantees 207 207 155 155
- other commission and fee income 687 105 963 306

Total commission and fee income 12,082 11,302 12,159 11,502

Commission and fee expense:
- correspondent bank service charges (208) (208) (306) (306)
- commission on settlement cards (1,339) (1,339) (1,122) (1,122)
- commission for attracted credit resources (196) (196) (394) (394)
- commission on securities (118) (95) (121) (121)
- other commission and fee expense (77) (56) (16) (6)

Total commission and fee expense (1,938) (1,894) (1,959) (1,949)
Net commission and fee income 10,144 9,408 10,200 9,553
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Note 6 Profit on securities trading and foreign exchange, net

Net profit on securities trading and foreign exchange represents the profit or loss from trading activities, mark to
market revaluation and revaluation of foreign currency positions, excluding net interest income or expense and
commissions and fees incurred in respect of those transactions.

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Profit from dealing with currency exchange 1,655 1,655 4,711 4,788
Profit from trading with other financial instruments 198 198 - -
Profit/(loss) from revaluation of foreign currency positions 694 603 (1,465) (1,465)

2,547 2,456 3,246 3,323

Profit  from trading with securities 471 471 1,034 1,034
Profit  from revaluation of securities 397 397 593 593
Profit on securities trading and foreign exchange, net 3,415 3,324 4,873 4,950

Note 7 Other operating income

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Rental income 115 115 66 66
Other operating income 335 262 774 574
Total other operating income 450 377 840 640

Note 8 Administrative expense 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Remuneration and related social security expense (see Note 9) 10,498 10,053 9,967 9,572
Utilities, repairs and rent 1,250 1,181 1,160 1,106
Communication expense 853 819 872 852
Office expense 1,456 1,433 1,136 1,123
Sponsorship and marketing 1,286 1,226 1,383 1,331
Transportation costs 550 550 606 587
Training and other staff costs 460 451 494 485
Consulting and professional fees 329 325 415 366
Insurance 351 351 313 307
Land and property tax 170 170 148 148
Security costs 170 170 202 201
Other administrative expense 387 270 193 147
Total administrative expense 17,760 16,999 16,889 16,225

The Bank’s corporate income tax payable has been additionally reduced by Ls 440 thousand (Ls 323 thousand)
from the sponsorship expenses in the year 2001.
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Note 9 Remuneration and related social security expense

Remuneration and related social security expense includes remuneration to the Supervisory Council, the Board of
Directors and other personnel of the Group and the Bank as well as related social security payments and other
benefits costs.

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Remuneration to the Supervisory Council and Board of
Directors 891 891 718 718
Remuneration to other personnel 7,724 7,330 7,305 6,977
Social security payments 1,883 1,832 1,944 1,877
Total remuneration and related social security expense 10,498 10,053 9,967 9,572

The total number of personnel employed by the Group and Bank is specified as follows:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Members of the Board of Directors 7 7 7 7
Other managing personnel 135 126 131 126
Staff personnel 1,164 1,136 1,235 1,187
Total number of personnel employed 1,306 1,269 1,373 1,320

During the period ended 31 December 2001, the Bank and Group had an average number of personnel of 1,285
(1,323) and 1,347 (1,355), respectively.

Note 10 Provision expense for possible credit losses and release of previously established provision 

The table below shows the division of the Group’s total provision for possible credit losses between balances due
from credit institutions, loans and advances to non-banking customers, T-bills and other securities, shares and
other non-fixed income securities, accrued interest income, other assets, guarantees and irrevocable letters of
credit outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

Balances
due from

credit
institutions

Loans
and

advances

T-bills
and other
securities

Shares
and other
non-fixed

income
securities

Accrued
interest
income

Guarantees
and

irrevocable
letters of

credit

Other
assets

Total

31 December 2000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Specific - 7,112 1,406 141 54 - 236 8,949
General 2 2,180 - - - 30 - 2,212

2 9,292 1,406 141 54 30 236 11,161

Increase of specific - 3,870 269 - 224 - 70 4,433

Release of specific - (3,167) - (139) (42) - (194) (3,542)
Net movement of
general provision (2) (189) - - - (30) - (221)
Charge to Income
Statement  (2) 514 269 (139) 182 (30) (124) 670
Total reversal of
specific provision
due to write-offs - (504) (259) (2) (16) - (45) (826)
31 December 2001
Specific - 7,311 1,416 - 220 - 67 9,014
General - 1,991 - - - - - 1,991
Total - 9,302 1,416 - 220 - 67 11,005
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Note 10 Provision expense for possible credit losses and release of previously established provision
(continued)

The Management have adopted a general credit loss provisioning policy for non-zero risk performing loans and
advances to non-banking customers. The Management have a policy to stratify the Bank’s portfolio of loans and
advances to non-banking customers based on the trends observed and the inherent risk level assessed in respect of
different categories of the portfolio in order to establish the appropriate level of general provision as at the
reporting date. The Management of the Bank believe that such a provisioning policy is appropriate and prudent
under the current circumstances.

The aggregated general provision for possible credit losses on loans and advances to non-banking customers
represents approximately 0.5% (0.8%) of the Bank’s residual portfolio of loans and advances after deduction of
transit loans guaranteed by the Government of Latvia, loans fully secured by eligible Latvian Treasury bills and
loans and advances specifically provided for by the Bank. Total provision for loans and advances to non-banking
customers represents 2.2% (4.5%) of the Bank’s portfolio of loans and advances to non-banking customers,
excluding transit loans guaranteed by the Government of Latvia, loans fully secured by eligible Latvian Treasury
bills. 

As at 31 December 2001, the aggregated specific provision for possible credit losses on Russia’s public sector
(City of Moscow) bonds represented 76.2% (61.8%) of gross outstanding plans. The Management believe that
such a level of provisions is appropriate under current circumstances and prudently reflects risks associated with
the Bank’s direct exposure to Russia.

Note 11 Corporate taxes 

Corporate taxes comprised of the following items:
31/12/01 31/12/00

Group Bank Group Bank
Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000

Charge for the period 2,269 1,703 1,494 1,294
Provision for deferred taxation (see Note 31) 1,193 1,116 1,817 1,770
Total corporate taxes 3,462 2,819 3,311 3,064

The Bank’s tax charge on operating profit differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax
rate as follows:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000

Profit before tax 15,162 14,519 13,684 13,429
Tax calculated at 25% 3,791 3,630 3,421 3,357

Tax effect of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 241 234 242 165
Revaluation of balance sheet items (116) (602) (14) (132)
Income not assessable for tax (3) (3) (3) (3)
Donations and gifts relief (451) (440) (335) (323)
Income tax expense 3,462 2,819 3,311 3,064

Corporate income tax is charged at 25% of taxable profit for the period calculated in accordance with Latvian tax
legislation.
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Note 11 Corporate taxes (continued)

As at 31 December 2001 the following future corporate income tax rates had been enacted into the law:

Year Rate
2002 22%
2003 19%
2004 and further 15%

The management of the Group considers that due to a number of factors the rates beyond 2002 may be subject to
change at a later date. Accordingly, the year 2002 tax rate of 22% has been applied to all temporary differences in
the calculation of the deferred tax liability as at 31 December 2001.

Note 12 Earnings per share 

Earnings per share are calculated based upon the profit after taxation of Ls 11,700 thousand (Ls 10,365 thousand)
for the year ended 31 December 2001 and the average number of shares in issue during the year of     37,106
thousand (37,106 thousand).
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 Note 13 Cash and deposits with the Bank of Latvia 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Cash 32,295 32,295 19,790 19,790
Correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia 1,940 1,940 5,153 5,153
Total cash and deposits with the Bank of Latvia 34,235 34,235 24,943 24,943

The correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia is non-interest bearing.

Note 14 Balances due from credit institutions 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
 Due from credit institutions registered in OECD area 4,769 4,769 58,681 58,681
 Due from credit institutions registered in Latvia 12,701 12,632 2,614 2,463
 Due from credit institutions registered  in other non-OECD
countries 389 389 341 341
 Less provision for possible credit losses (see Note 10) - - (2) (2)
 Total net balances due from credit institutions 17,859 17,790 61,634 61,483

At 31 December 2001, the Bank had established correspondent relationships with 27 (31) credit institutions
registered in the OECD area and 6 (5) financial institutions incorporated in non-OECD countries. 

At 31 December 2001, the Bank had balances due from 28 credit institutions registered in the OECD area and 4
credit institutions incorporated in Latvia, which comprised 27% and 71% of the total gross balances due from
credit institutions registered in the OECD area and Latvia, respectively.  The largest placement with a single
correspondent credit institution at the end of the period was Ls 3,050 thousand representing total outstanding
balance held with a bank incorporated in the OECD area.



A/s Latvijas Unibanka
Annual Report

for the year ended 31 December 2001

25

Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 15 Loans and advances to non-banking customers 

Loans and advances to non-banking customers comprise the following:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
    Regular loans 287,822 291,610 194,402 193,895
    Transit loans 12 1,721 13 1,722
    Loans under reverse repurchase agreements 1,267 1,267 6,099 6,099
    Utilised credit lines 84,593 132,006 57,085 87,309
 Total gross loans to non-banking customers 373,694 426,604 257,599 289,025
 Finance leases 41,243 - 25,589 140
    Factoring 15,038 - 9,357 1,246
    Overdraft facilities on demand deposit accounts 12,573 12,573 4,479 4,479
    Credit balances on settlement cards 4,336 4,336 1,885 1,885
Total other credit balances 31,947 16,909 15,721 7,610
Total gross loans and advances to non-banking customers 446,884 443,513 298,909 296,775
    Less provision for possible credit losses (see Note 10) (9,302) (9,302) (9,292) (8,904)
Total net loans and advances to non-banking customers 437,582 434,211 289,617 287,871

The extent of loan and advance concentration with respect to individual non-banking customers with total credit
exposures equal to or exceeding Ls 1,000 thousand is presented below:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
 Number of customers 68 64 49 44
 Total credit exposure of customers 224,449 271,158 132,621 157,648
 Percentage of total gross portfolio of loans and advances 50.23% 61.14% 44.35% 53.12%

At 31 December 2001 the top eight borrowers represented 19.46% of the total loan portfolio.

The Latvian banking legislation requires that any credit exposure to a non-related entity or group of non-related
entities may not exceed 25% of a credit institution’s equity (see Note 36 for the definition of equity under the
Latvian banking legislation) and the total credit exposure to all related parties may not exceed 15% of equity.
Finance and Capital Market Commission has agreed that these limits are not applicable to the Bank’s credit
exposure to its fully owned leasing subsidiary SIA “Unilīzings”.

As at 31 December 2001, the Bank was in compliance with the legal requirement set for the total amount of non-
zero risk credit exposure. 

Finance leases by type of leased assets: 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
 Manufacturing and agricultural equipment 13,042 - 6,511 80
 Transport vehicles 21,930 - 15,166 -
 Real estate 348 - 112 41
 Medical equipment 141 - 49 19
 Other 5,782 - 3,751 -
Total gross finance leases 41,243 - 25,589 140
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Note 15 Loans and advances to non-banking customers (continued)

Finance lease receivables by maturity profile:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
 Overdue 489 - 274 25
 Not later than 1 year 15,601 - 9,877 17
 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 year 24,737 - 15,366 92
 Later than 5 years 416 - 72 6
 Total net finance leases 41,243 - 25,589 140

Note 16 Loans and advances to non-banking customers by interest accrual 

The following table provides the division between interest accruing and interest non-accruing loans and advances
to non-banking customers at the end of the period:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Interest accrual profile:
 Accrual basis 433,052 429,681 284,234 283,433
 Non accrual basis 13,832 13,832 14,675 13,342
Total gross loans and advances to non-banking customers 446,884 443,513 298,909 296,775
Less provision for possible credit losses (see Note 10) (9,302) (9,302) (9,292) (8,904)
Total net loans and advances to non-banking customers 437,582 434,211 289,617 287,871

Note 17 Loans and advances to non-banking customers by geographical and economic profile 

The following table presents geographical profile of the portfolio of loans and advances to non-banking
customers analysed by the place of customers’ residence:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Geographical profile by the place of customers’ residence:
 Residents of Latvia 424,911 423,803 293,857 293,552
 Residents of other non OECD area countries 13,436 11,173 3,472 1,643
 Residents of OECD countries 8,537 8,537 1,580 1,580
Total gross loans and advances to non-banking customers 446,884 443,513 298,909 296,775
 Less provision for possible credit losses (see Note 10) (9,302) (9,302) (9,292) (8,904)
Total net loans and advances to non-banking customers 437,582 434,211 289,617 287,871
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Note 17 Loans and advances to non-banking customers by geographical and economic profile
(continued) 

The table below provides an analysis of the portfolio of loans and advances to non-banking customers by
geographical region of Latvia in respect of the lending branch:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Geographical profile by the lending branch:
 Riga 313,762 320,638 174,818 179,401
 Latgale 24,317 23,374 21,941 21,092
 Vidzeme, excluding Riga 45,004 41,328 44,114 41,101
 Kurzeme 45,101 41,627 39,313 37,458
 Zemgale 18,700 16,546 18,723 17,723
Total gross loans and advances to non-banking customers 446,884 443,513 298,909 296,775
 Less provision for possible credit losses (see Note 10) (9,302) (9,302) (9,292) (8,904)
Total net loans and advances to non-banking customers 437,582 434,211 289,617 287,871

Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio at 31 December 2001 and 2000 were as
follows:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
 Manufacturing 79,282 67,362 73,697 63,355
 Retail trade and wholesale distribution 93,683 78,983 48,944 48,040
 Transport, warehousing and communications 57,853 52,612 34,014 33,333
 Financial intermediaries 5,605 59,041 8,081 39,977
 Electricity, gas and water utilities 21,873 21,611 13,371 10,895
 Agriculture and forestry 30,245 23,502 23,083 19,113
 Construction 9,316 7,425 5,475 5,240
 Fishing 250 157 164 118
 Hotels and restaurants 11,818 11,755 15,723 10,940
 Other industries 48,038 36,633 29,492 21,090
 Municipal authorities 28,459 28,372 16,792 16,709
 Public and religious institutions 7,963 7,758 82 26
 Personnel employed by the Bank 2,082 1,906 1,800 1,769
 Other private individuals 50,417 46,396 28,191 26,170
 Total gross loans and advances to non-banking customers 446,884 443,513 298,909 296,775

As at 31 December 2001, the Bank had entered into reverse repurchase agreements regarding the purchase of
Latvian Government bonds and Lithuanian Government bonds with a commitment to return these assets to the
company within 2 months period. The Bank has recorded the purchase price of those securities totalling Ls 1,267
thousand (Ls 6,099 thousand) as loans and advances to non-banking financial intermediaries.
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Note 18 Unearned interest income from finance leases 

For finance lease transactions, the Bank has introduced a combined interest rate that comprises a fixed rate and
floating rate (so called UNIBOR). Accordingly, the floating rate for unearned interest set forth as at year end has
been used to determine unearned interest income for finance leases.

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
 Not more than 1 year 3,356 - 2,201 6
 More than 1 year but not more than 5 years 3,078 - 1,902 14
 More than 5 years 26 - 5 1
Total unearned interest income from finance leases 6,460 - 4,108 21

Note 19 Trading securities 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
 Equity shares 347 347 551 551
 Latvian privatisation certificates 46 46 16 16
 Total Trading securities 393 393 567 567

The Bank’s total investments in trading securities are classified by listed and unlisted securities as follows:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Listed Unlisted Total Listed Unlisted Total

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
 Equity shares
    in Latvian corporate entities  300  -  300   432  -  432
    in non-OECD corporate entities  47  -  47   119  -  119

347 - 347 551 - 551
Latvian privatisation certificates - 46 46 - 16 16
Total Trading securities 347 46 393 551 16 567

 Investments in listed equity shares and privatisation certificates held for trading purposes have been recorded at
their market value as at 31 December 2001.



A/s Latvijas Unibanka
Annual Report

for the year ended 31 December 2001

29

Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 20 Investment securities 
 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
 Securities available-for-sale
 Treasury bills 1,653 1,653 7,026 7,026
 Government bonds 38,117 38,117 23,186 23,186
 Corporate bonds 8,392 8,392 4,507 4,507
 Promissory notes - - 265 265
  Investments in a non-OECD open-end investment fund 3,275 3,275 6,974 6,974
  Investments in a OECD open-end investment funds - - 6 6
  Short-term money management account 4,600 4,600 1,295 1,295
 Equity shares 525 525 527 527
 Total gross securities available-for-sale 56,562 56,562 43,786 43,786
 Less provision for possible credit losses - - (141) (141)
Total net securities available-for-sale 56,562 56,562 43,645 43,645

Securities held-to-maturity
 Public sector bonds 1,859 1,859 1,844 1,844
 Corporate bonds 2,353 2,353 2,785 2,785
Total gross securities held-to-maturity 4,212 4,212 4,629 4,629
 Less provision for possible credit losses (see Note 10) (1,416) (1,416) (1,406) (1,406)
Total net securities held-to-maturity 2,796 2,796 3,223 3,223
Total net Investment securities 59,358 59,358 46,868 46,868
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Note 20 Investment securities (continued)

 The following table shows the division of investments in investment securities held by the Group by listed and
unlisted securities:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Listed Unlisted Total Listed Unlisted Total

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Securities available-for-sale
Treasury bills

Latvian Treasury bills 1,653 - 1,653 7,026 - 7,026
1,653 - 1,653 7,026 - 7,026

Government bonds
Latvian government bonds 33,174 - 33,174 15,659 - 15,659
OECD government bonds 3,471 - 3,471 6,659 - 6,659
Non-OECD government bonds 1,472 - 1,472 868 - 868

38,117 - 38,117 23,186 - 23,186

Corporate bonds
    Latvian corporate bonds 3,954 - 3,954 2,469 - 2,469

OECD corporate bonds 2,627 1,522 4,149 738 1,007 1,745
    Non-OECD corporate bonds - 289 289 - 293 293

6,581 1,811 8,392 3,207 1,300 4,507
Promissory notes

Non-OECD promissory notes - - - - 265 265
- - - - 265 265

 Investments in a non-OECD open-end
investment fund

 
 -

 
 3,275

 
 3,275

  
 -

 
 6,974

 
 6,974

 Investments in a OECD open-end
investment funds

 
 -

 
 -

 
 -

  
 -

 
 6

 
 6

 Short-term money management account  -  4,600  4,600   -  1,295  1,295
 Equity shares
    in OECD corporate entities  -  11  11   -  11  11
    in Latvian corporate entities  -  514  514   -  516  516

- 525 525 - 527  527
Total gross securities available-for-sale 46,351 10,213 56,564 33,419 10,367  43,786
Less provision for possible credit losses - - - - (141) (141)

Total net securities available-for-sale 46,351 10,211 56,562 33,419 10,226 43,645

Securities held-to-maturity
Public sector bonds

Non-OECD public sector bonds - 1,859 1,859 - 1,844 1,844
- 1,859 1,859 - 1,844 1,844

Corporate bonds
    Non-OECD corporate bonds - 2,353 2,353 - 2,785 2,785

- 2,353 2,353 - 2,785 2,785
Total gross securities held-to-maturity - 4,212 4,212 - 4,629 4,629
Less provision for possible credit losses
(see Note 10) - (1,416) (1,416) - (1,406) (1,406)
Total net securities held-to-maturity - 2,796 2,796 - 3,223 3,223
Total net investment securities 46,351 13,007 59,358 33,419 13,449 46,868
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 Note 20 Investment securities (continued)
 
 Investment in a non-OECD open-end investment fund represents the Bank’s holdings in the fund incorporated
under the laws of the British Virgin Islands, which is managed by UBS Asset Management (New York) Inc. The
fund’s investments are made primarily in US dollar fixed income securities.
 
 As at 31 December 2001 the Bank has short term money market account managed by a bank in the United States
of America. The assets from this account are repayable on request within 24 hours.

Note 21 Latvian treasury bills 

Latvian Treasury bills and Government bonds held by the Bank on its own account represent Latvian government
securities eligible for refinancing with the Bank of Latvia acting as an agent of the Ministry of Finance. The Bank
of Latvia undertakes to redeem such securities in the primary market upon maturity, and may also purchase
securities from time to time on the secondary market, where required subject to prescribed dealing limits, in order
to provide additional liquidity.  Correspondingly, Latvian Treasury bills and Government bonds represent
liquidity management instruments thereby ensuring the availability of short-term financing from the Bank of
Latvia of up to 80% of the nominal value of eligible bonds and bills held by the Bank. 

The yields on the eligible Latvian Treasury bills and Government bonds held by the Bank as at 31 December
2001 ranged from 6.25% (3.70%) to 7.15% (9.49%) per annum.

Note 22 Derivative financial instruments

The Group utilises the following derivative instruments:
Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign and domestic currency.
Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result
in an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate).

The Group's credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the forward or swap contracts if counterparties fail
to perform their obligation. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Group assesses counterparties using the
same techniques as for its lending activities.

The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments
recognised on the balances sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the
current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group's exposure to credit or price risks.
The derivative instruments become favourable or unfavourable as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates
or foreign exchange rates relative to their terms.
 
The notional amounts and fair values of derivative instruments held are set out in the following table:

Contract / Fair value
notional amount Assets Liabilities

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Year ended 31 December 2001
Derivative financial instruments:

- currency forwards 4,568 31 (191)
- currency swaps 183,592 5,755 (3,901)
- interest rate swaps 44,660 - (2,465)

Total 5,786 (6,557)
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Note 22  Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Following the adoption of IAS 39, the Group remeasured all derivatives following the policies described in   Note
3. 

Contract / Fair value
notional amount Assets Liabilities

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
1 January 2001
Derivative financial instruments:

- currency forwards 1,091 18 (3)
- currency swaps 182,140 1,914 (3,281)

Total 1,932 (3,284)

The impact of adopting IAS 39 at 1 January 2001 on derivative instruments is shown below:

Retained
earnings

Ls ‘000
1 January 2001
Derivatives held originally off-balance sheet  remeasured to fair value:

- currency swaps (47)
Total (47)

Note 23 Investments in subsidiaries 
 
 The Bank’s investments in subsidiaries are specified as follows:
 

  Business profile  Share
capital 

 Total
 equity 

 The
Bank’s
share 

 Total
voting
rights

 Investment
value 

 Investment
value

       31/12/01  31/12/00
   Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000  (%)  (%)  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000        

 SIA “Unilīzings”  Leasing activities  2,400  5,363  100%  100%  5,363  3,027
 A/s “Unibankas
Investīciju Sabiedrība”

 Investment
management

 
 150

 
 150

 
 99.7%

 
 99.7%

 
 150

 
 150

 A/s “Unipolise”  Insurance brokerage  -  -  -  -  -  61
 A/s public pension
fund “Unipensija”

 Pension fund  
 400

 
 319

 
 81%

 
 81%

 
 324

 
 324        

      5,837  3,562       
 Unamortised part of goodwill arising on acquisition      171  233
      6,008  3,795
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Note 23 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

 At 31 December 2001, the total assets of SIA “Unilīzings” reached Ls 62,656 (37,093) thousand. 

 A/s “Unibankas Investīciju Sabiedrība” was founded on 3 November 1997 and no operations were commenced
by the Company by 31 December 2001. Accordingly, the Bank has accounted for this investment in its financial
statements at cost of Ls 150 thousand.
 
 The financial statements of the subsidiaries except for A/s “Unipensija” are consolidated in the Group’s financial
statements on a line by line basis excluding respective eliminating entries.
 
 A/s “Unipensija” has not been consolidated in the Group’s financial statements and accounted for the investment
at its cost in the Bank’s financial statements as all the gains and losses generated by the public pension fund are
not available for distribution to its shareholders. The changes in net worth of the company is for the account of
the individual pension investors who subscribe to this pension scheme.
 
 
Note 24 Property and equipment 
 
 The following are included in the net book value of property and equipment:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Land and Buildings 10,463 10,463 10,175 10,176
Leasehold improvements 896 873 755 739
Transport vehicles 1,056 1,056 1,039 1,005
Office equipment:
   EDP equipment and accounting software 10,386 10,315 8,340 8,295
   Other office equipment, fixtures and fittings 3,576 3,529 3,937 3,816
Total office equipment 13,962 13,844 12,277 12,111

Assets leased out under operating leases 2,348 - 1,032 -

Total property and equipment excluding prepayments 28,725 26,236 25,278 24,031

Prepayments for property and equipment 89 85 202 200
Total property and equipment at net book value including
prepayments 28,814 26,321 25,480 24,231
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Note 24 Property and equipment (continued)
 
 The following changes in the Group’s property and equipment took place during the year ended 31 December
2001:
 

 
 
 

 Land and
buildings 

 Leasehold
improvements

 Transport
vehicles

   Office
  equipment

 Total 
 property and

equipment
excluding

prepayments
  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000
 Historical cost
 As at 31 December 2000  11,035  1,109  3,384  19,499  35,027
 Additions  545  279  2,646  4,891  8,361
 Disposals  (49)  -  (1,075)  (847)  (1,971)
 As at 31 December 2001  11,531  1,388  4,955  23,543  41,417
      
 Accumulated depreciation      
 As at 31 December 2000  776  354  1,404  7,215  9,749
 Charge for the period  255  138  904  3,079  4,376
 Reversal due to disposals  (7)  -  (659)  (767)  (1,433)
 As at 31 December 2001  1,024  492  1,649  9,527  12,692
      
 Net book value      
 As at 31 December 2000  10,259  755  1,980  12,284  25,278
 As at 31 December 2001  10,507  896  3,306  14,016  28,725

 The cost of buildings as at 31 December 2001 is based upon the book value of buildings as at the date of the
formation of the Bank on 28 September 1993 and the effect of subsequent additions, disposals and transfers. 
 
 Leased assets included above where the Group is a lessor comprise assets leased by a Group company to third
parties under operating leases:
 
  Ls ‘000
 Historical cost
 As at 31 December 2000  1,281
 Additions  2,232
 Disposals  (513)
 As at 31 December 2001  3,000
  
 Accumulated depreciation  
 As at 31 December 2000  249
 Charge for the period  559
 On disposals  (156)
 As at 31 December 2001  652
  
 Net book value  
 As at 31 December 2000  1,032
 As at 31 December 2001  2,348
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Note 24 Property and equipment (continued)
 
 The future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at 31 December 2001 are as
follows:
 

31/12/01 31/12/00
 Group Group   
  Ls ‘000  Ls ‘000
 Not later than 1 year  764  365
 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 year  959  480
 Total unearned interest income from operating leases  1,723  845

Note 25 Prepayments and accrued income 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Prepaid corporate income and property tax, VAT - - 324 -
Other prepayments 571 521 772 740
Accrued interest income 2,471 1,983 1,447 1,346
Other accrued income 86 86 90 90
Total prepayments and accrued income 3,128 2,590 2,633 2,176

 
 
Note 26 Bonds issued and debt securities 
 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000

Certificates of deposits - - 5,453 5,453
Total issued debt securities - - 5,453 5,453

 On 6 March 2000, the Bank established a Ls 20 million Certificates of deposits program available to December
2001. At 31 December 2001 the Bank had no outstanding certificates of deposits.

Note 27 Balances due to credit institutions 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Due to credit institutions registered in OECD area:
    - funding for transit loans 1,725 1,725 1,727 1,727
    - other funding 146,056 146,056 80,530 80,530

147,781 147,781 82,257 82,257
Due to credit institutions registered in Latvia:

Bank of Latvia – funding for transit loans 133 133 135 135
Bank of Latvia – funding provided under repurchase
agreement - - 12,347 12,347
Commercial banks registered in Latvia 24,631 24,631 9,782 9,782

24,764 24,764 22,264 22,264
Due to credit institutions registered in other countries 1,012 1,012 541 541
Total balances due to credit institutions 173,557 173,557 105,062 105,062
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Note 27 Balances due to credit institutions (continued)
 
 Long-term syndicated loan facility amounting to EUR 14,667 thousand (equivalent to Ls 8,226 thousand) with
maturity 10 November 2004 is included in total balance due to credit institutions. The aforementioned loan was
received in 2 disbursements on 3 December 1999 and 10 March 2000 in accordance with long-term syndicated
loan facility agreement between the Bank and European Bank for Reconstruction and Development signed on 17
November 1999.

Long-term borrowing from SEB amounting to EUR 80,000 thousand and USD 40,000 thousand (equivalent to Ls
70,388 thousand) is included in total balance due to credit institutions.

Note 28 Deposits from the public 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ’000 Ls ’000 Ls ’000
Sector profile:
Private companies 134,684 134,939 126,196 127,724
Private individuals 136,120 136,120 94,489 94,489
State owned enterprises 30,443 30,443 26,287 26,287
Government of Latvia 11,940 11,940 5,105 5,105
Municipal authorities 12,126 12,126 18,033 18,033
Public and religious institutions 6,937 6,937 7,111 7,111
Total deposits from the public 332,250 332,505 277,221 278,749

 
31/12/01 31/12/00

Group Bank Group Bank
Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000

Geographical profile:
Residents 300,283 300,538 258,700 260,228
Non-residents 31,967 31,967 18,521 18,521
Total deposits from the public 332,250 332,505 277,221 278,749

Note 29 Other liabilities

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Corporate income tax and other taxes payable 568 210 1,494 1,294
Other liabilities 3,658 1,514 2,687 1,100
Total other liabilities 4,226 1,724 4,181 2,394

 
 
Note 30 Accrued expense 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Accrued interest expense 1,535 1,440 1,507 1,505
Accrued remuneration costs and social security expense 1,168 999 960 960
Other accrued expense 938 179 434 192
Total accrued expense 3,641 2,618 2,901 2,657
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Note 31 Provision for liabilities and charges 

Provision for liabilities and charges comprises:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Provision for deferred taxation 3,276 3,101 2,083 1,985
Provision for employee holiday 478 459 461 461
Unrealised losses on foreign exchange forward and
currency swap instruments - - 1,343 1,343
General provision for non-zero risk guarantees and
irrevocable letters of credit - - 30 30
Total provision for liabilities and charges 3,754 3,560 3,917 3,819

 Movements in the provision for deferred tax liability for the period comprise the following:
 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Opening balance 2,083 1,985 266 215
Increase in deferred tax provision 1,193 1,116 1,817 1,770
Total provision for deferred taxation 3,276 3,101 2,083 1,985

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:
 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000

Deferred income tax liabilities: 3,933 3,717 3,044 2,946
Accelerated tax depreciation 3,887 3,671 2,896 2,798
Revaluation of balance sheet items 46 46 148 148

Deferred income tax assets: 657 616 961 961
General provision 438 438 494 494
Provision for employee holiday 142 101 115 115
Provision for bonuses 62 62 240 240
Other temporary differences 15 15 112 112

Total provision for deferred taxation 3,276 3,101 2,083 1,985
 
 
Note 32 Subordinated liabilities 

 On 5 January 1999, the Shareholders’ General Assembly approved the attraction of subordinated floating rate
debt totalling USD 17,391 thousand (equivalent to Ls 11,096 thousand at 31 December 2001 and Ls 10,661
thousand at 31 December 2000) from Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB in accordance with the subscription
agreement signed by the Bank and Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB on 18 November 1998. The Bank
received the aforementioned subordinated funding on 11 January 1999. The debt matures in 2006.
 
 



A/s Latvijas Unibanka
Annual Report

for the year ended 31 December 2001

38

 Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 33 Principal shareholdings 

 At  31 December 2001, the Bank had the following principal shareholders:
  31/12/01   31/12/00
  Paid-in

share
capital

 % of total
paid-in
capital

  Paid-in
share

capital 

 % of total
paid-in
capital

  Ls ‘000    Ls ’000        
 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  36,631  98.7   36,526  98.4
 Holders of GDRs issued in respect of the Bank’s
shares (depository - the Bank of New York)

 
 121

 
 0.3

  
 123

 
 0.3

 Other shareholders  354  1.0   457  1.3
 Total  37,106  100.0   37,106  100.0

Note 34 Memorandum items 

 Memorandum items include the following contingent liabilities and commitments outstanding at the end of the
period:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Funds under trust management
       Investment funds - - 25 25
  Privatisation certificates 210 210 86 86
  Fixed income securities 858 858 822 822
Total funds under trust management 1,068 1,068 933 933
Contingent liabilities
  Outstanding guarantees 7,807 7,807 6,509 6,509
  Irrevocable letters of credit 1,543 1,543 869 982
Total contingent liabilities 9,350 9,350 7,378 7,491
Financial commitments
  Credit commitments 48,392 42,519 43,142 44,523
  Commitments for capital expenditure under contracts 52 52 219 219
Total financial commitments 48,444 42,571 43,361 44,742

 
 The following table provides analysis of the foreign exchange transactions outstanding as at 31 December 2001:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ’000 Ls ’000 Ls ’000 Ls ’000 
Foreign exchange transactions

Spot exchange receivable 10,810 10,810 12,817 12,817
Spot exchange payable (10,797) (10,797) (12,856) (12,856)
Forward foreign exchange receivable 188,160 188,160 183,231 183,231
Forward foreign exchange payable (187,359) (187,359) (184,525) (184,525)

 Foreign exchange transactions, net 814 814 (1,333) (1,333)
 
 
Note 35 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
 The table below provides a breakdown of cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2001:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000

Cash and demand deposits with the Bank of Latvia 34,235 34,235 24,943 24,943
Demand deposits with credit institutions 13,848 13,848 33,874 33,874
Total cash and cash equivalents 48,083 48,083 58,817 58,817
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Note 36 Capital adequacy
 
 Capital adequacy refers to the sufficiency of the Bank’s capital resources to cover the credit risks and market
risks arising from the portfolio of assets of the Bank and the memorandum items exposure of the Bank.
 
The Group’s international risk based capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2001 was 12.3% (14.5%) and for
the Bank 12.6% (14.5%), which is above the minimum ratio recommended by the 1988 Basle Committee
guidelines of 8%.  At the same time, in accordance with the Bank of Latvia’s requirements, the Bank’s risk based
capital adequacy ratio was 13.4% (16.6%).  The Bank of Latvia requires Latvian banks to maintain a capital
adequacy ratio based on Latvian financial statements prepared under Latvian accounting standards of 10% of risk
weighted assets.

 In 2000, the Bank of Latvia revised its “Regulations for Calculating Capital Adequacy” which are developed on
the basis of the Law "On Credit Institutions" and taking into account the EU Directives  89/299/EEC "On the
Own Funds of Credit Institutions", 89/647/EEC "On a Solvency Ratio for Credit Institutions" as amended by
98/32/EC and 98/33/EC and 93/6/EEC "On Capital Adequacy of Investment Firms and Credit Institutions" as
amended by 98/31/EC and 98/33/EC. 
 
 Based on these requirements set by the Bank of Latvia, the Bank's equity to be utilised in the capital adequacy
ratio as at 31 December 2001 has been calculated as follows:
 

 
 

 Amounts in  Total 
 per tier

 Description  Ls ’000  Ls ’000
   
 Tier 1

 - paid-in share capital 37,106
 - share premium 3,565
 - legal and other reserves 203
 - audited retained earnings 3,681

   Less  
 - total amount of preference shares -
 - accumulated deficit -
 - own shares held -
 - intangible assets (as defined by the Bank of Latvia) -
 - loss for the period -

 Total Tier 1 44,555
 Tier 2

 - subordinated capital (restricted to 50% of Tier 1) 8,877  
 - audited profit for the current period (not subject to dividend distribution) 11,700  
 - general banking risk reserve (appropriated from  retained earnings) -  
 - fixed asset revaluation reserve (restricted to 70% of total increase in property and
equipment value which has been certified by at least 2 independent values)

-  

 - revaluation reserve for long-term investments in securities (restricted to 55% of total
increase in long-term investments)

-

 Total Tier 2 20,577  
 Less investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries  324

 Equity to be utilised in the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio per the Bank of Latvia 64,808
 Additional Tier 1  

 -minority interest  -  
 Deduction Tier 1   

 - Goodwill  171   
 Additional Tier 2  

 - general provision for possible credit losses (restricted to 1.25% of risk weighted assets) 1,991
 Equity to be utilised in the Group’s capital adequacy ratio per the Basle Committee
guidelines 66,628

 
 Furthermore, the total of Tier 2 may not exceed the total of Tier 1.
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Note 36 Capital adequacy (continued)

 The guidelines of the Bank of Latvia for calculations of capital adequacy slightly differ from the
recommendations under the Basle Committee guidelines. The following table shows asset weightings used in
calculation of the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio according to the Bank of Latvia’s requirements:

 Under the Bank of Latvia’s guidelines (Bank)  Credit
equivalent

 Balance  Risk
 Weighting

 Risk
Weighted

 Assets
   Ls ‘000  %  Ls ‘000

 Assets     
 Cash and deposits with the Bank of Latvia   34,235  0%  -
 Claims on central government of the Republic of Latvia   34,828  0%  -
 Claims on central governments within the OECD area   949  0%  -
 Claims collateralised by central government securities or guaranteed by
central government

  
 12,173

 
 0%

 
 -

 Claims secured by deposit   3,989  0%  -
 Balances due from credit institutions within the OECD area   8,919  20%  1,784
 Demand deposits with credit institutions within Latvia   7,896  20%  1,579
 Claims guaranteed by credit institutions within the OECD area   1,222  20%  244
 Other balances due from credit institutions within Latvia   8,809  50%  4,405
 Claims guaranteed by Latvian municipalities   63  50%  32
 Prepayments and accrued income   267  50%  134
 Claims on local municipalities within Latvia   28,221  50%  14,111
 Claims collateralised by non-OECD central government securities in local
currency

  
 367

 
 50%

 
 184

 Loans fully secured by mortgage on residential property   19,707  50%  9,854
 Claims on central governments within the non-OECD area   1,472  100%  1,472
 Claims on local municipalities within the non-OECD area   443  100%  443
 Balances due from credit institutions within the non-OECD area   678  100%  678
 Claims on the private sector, except for claims with a lower risk weighting
considering their collateral 

  
 383,421

 
 100%

 
 383,421

 Investments in equity shares   6,209  100%  6,209
 Property and equipment   26,321  100%  26,321
 Other assets   1,180  100%  1,180

   Derivative financial instruments   5,786  *  -
   Trading securities   393  *  -
 Deductions from capital     
    -investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries   324  *  -

 Total assets   587,872   452,051
     

 Memorandum items     
 Funds under trust management   1,068  *  -
 Guarantees     

    0% risk weighted  100%  143  0%  -
    20% risk weighted  100%  -  20%  -
    50% risk weighted  100%  -  50%  -
    100% risk weighted  100%  7,716  100%  7,716

 Irrevocable letters of credit     
    0% risk weighted  50%  311  0%  -
    20% risk weighted  50%  -  20%  -
    50% risk weighted  50%  -  50%  -
    100% risk weighted  50%  1,232  100%  616

 Credit commitments     
    0% risk weighted  50%  -  0%  
    20% risk weighted  50%  -  20%  -
    50% risk weighted  50%  1,276  50%  319
    100% risk weighted  50%  41,243  100%  20,621

 Total memorandum items   52,989   29,272
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Note 36 Capital adequacy (continued)

 Under the Bank of Latvia’s
guidelines (continued)

Replacement
 cost of the

contract

Notional
principal

 of the
contract

Multiplier
 (%)

 Credit
equivalent of

contract
 

Total credit
equivalent

 

 Notional risk
weighting

assigned to
counterparty

liabilities
 (%)

 Risk
weighted

value of the
contract

 FX derivatives concluded with
residents of Latvia and the OECD area

       

 Original maturity 14 days or less  1  22,656  0%  -  -  -  -
 Residual maturity up to 1 year        

    0% risk weighted  38  3,563  1%  36  74  0%  -
    20% risk weighted  2,548  51,792  1%  518  3,065  20%  613
    50%  risk weighted  119  6,924  1%  69  188  50%  94
    100% risk weighted  48  3,051  1%  31  79  100%  79

 Residual maturity over 1 year        
    0% risk weighted  2,250  88,856  5%  4,443  6,693  0%  -
    20% risk weighted  779  10,000  5%  500  1,279  20%  256
    50%  risk weighted  -  -  5%  -  -  50%  -
    100% risk weighted  3  681  5%  34  37  100%  37

 FX derivatives concluded with
residents of the non-OECD area

       

 Original maturity 14 days or less  -  574  0%  -  -  -  -
 Residual maturity up to 1 year        

    0% risk weighted    1.5%    0%  
    20% risk weighted    1.5%    20%  
    50%  risk weighted    1.5%    50%  
    100% risk weighted  -  63  1.5%  1  1  100%  1

 Total derivatives  5,786  188,160      1,080
        
 Total banking book credit risk items for capital adequacy  482,403

        
 Foreign exchange risk        461
 Position risk of trading securities        750
 Total capital requirement for market risks       1,211

        
 Total market risk items for capital adequacy      483,614

        
 Equity to be utilised in the capital adequacy ratio      64,808

        
 Capital Adequacy Ratio       13.4%
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Note 36 Capital adequacy (continued)
 
 The Group’s ratio used for these financial statements is calculated in accordance with the guidelines set forth by
the Basle Committee, utilising the following weights:
 

 0% • Cash and deposits with the Bank of Latvia
 • Investments in Latvian government securities 
 • Loans and advances secured by cash or central government guarantee
 • Investments in OECD government securities
 • Exchange rate contracts with an original maturity of 14 days or less
  

 20% • Balances due from banks incorporated in the OECD area
  

 50% • Loans fully secured by mortgage on residential property
  

 100% • Balances due from banks incorporated in the non-OECD area  
 • Investments in non-OECD government securities
 • Loans and advances to corporate customers and private individuals 
 • Accrued income, prepayments and other short and long-term assets
 • Guarantees, standby letters of credit
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Note 36 Capital adequacy (continued)

 Under the Basle Agreement (Group)  Credit
equivalent

 Balance  Risk
 Weighting

 Risk
Weighted

 Assets
   Ls ‘000  %  Ls ‘000

 Assets     
 Cash and deposits with the Bank of Latvia   34,235  0%  -
 Claims on central government of the Republic of Latvia   34,828  0%  -
 Claims on central governments within the OECD area   949  0%  -
 Claims collateralised by central government securities or guaranteed by central
government

  
 12,173

 
 0%

 
 -

 Claims secured by deposit   3,989  0%  -
 Balances due from credit institutions within the OECD area   8,919  20%  1,784
 Claims guaranteed by credit institutions within the OECD area   1,222  20%  244
 Loans fully secured by mortgage on residential property   19,714  50%  9,857
 Demand deposits with credit institutions within Latvia   7,965  100%  7,965
 Other balances due from credit institutions within Latvia   8,809  100%  8,809
 Claims guaranteed by Latvian municipalities   63  100%  63
 Prepayments and accrued income   804  100%  804
 Claims on local municipalities within Latvia   28,257  100%  28,257
 Claims collateralised by non-OECD central government securities in local currency  367  100%  367
 Claims on central governments within the non-OECD area   1,472  100%  1,472
 Claims on local municipalities within the non-OECD area   443  100%  443
 Balances due from credit institutions within the non-OECD area   678  100%  678
 Claims on the private sector, except for claims with a lower risk weighting
considering their collateral 

  
 388,741

 
 100%

 
 388,741

 Investments in equity shares   918  100%  918
 Property and equipment   28,814  100%  28,814
 Other assets   3,686  100%  3,686

   Derivative financial instruments   5,786  *  -
 Addition to capital     

 -general provision for possible credit losses   (1,991)  *  -
 Deductions from capital     
    -investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries   324  *  -

 -goodwill   171  *  -
 Total assets   591,336  482,902
     

 Memorandum items     
 Funds under trust management   1,068  *  -
 Guarantees     

 0% risk weighted  100%  143  0%  -
 100% risk weighted  100%  7,716  100%  7,716

 Irrevocable letters of credit     
 0% risk weighted  100%  311  0%  -
 100% risk weighted  100%  1,232  100%  1,232

 Credit commitments     
 0% risk weighted  100%  -  0%  -
 100% risk weighted  100%  48,392  100%  48,392

 Total memorandum items   58,862   57,340
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Note 36 Capital adequacy (continued)

 Under the Basle Committee
guidelines (continued)

Replacement
 cost of the

contract

Notional
principal

 of the
contract

Multiplier
 (%)

 Credit
equivalent of

contract
 

Total credit
equivalent

 

 Notional risk
weighting

assigned to
counterparty

liabilities
 (%)

 Risk
weighted

value of the
contract

 FX derivatives        
 Original maturity 14 days or less  1  23,230  0%  -  -  -  -
 Residual maturity up to 1 year        

    0% risk weighted  38  3,563  1%  36  74  0%  -
    20% risk weighted  2,548  51,792  1%  518  3,065  20%  613
    100% risk weighted  167  10,038  1%  100  268  100%  268

 Residual maturity over 1 year        
    0% risk weighted  2,250  88,856  5%  4,443  6,693  0%  -
    20% risk weighted  779  10,000  5%  500  1,279  20%  256
    100% risk weighted  3  681  5%  34  37  100%  37

 Total derivatives  5,786  188,160      1,174
        

 Total risk weighted assets        541,416
        

 Equity to be utilised in the capital adequacy ratio      66,628
        

 Capital Adequacy Ratio        12.3%
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Note 37 Currency analysis 

The following table provides the analysis of the Bank’s assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity as well as
memorandum items outstanding as at 31 December 2001 by currency profile:

Ls USD EUR Other
currencies

Total

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Assets
Cash and deposits with the Bank of Latvia 23,348 4,147 5,795 945 34,235
Balances due from credit institutions 10,977 3,251 1,067 2,495 17,790
Loans and advances to non-banking customers 216,574 148,672 61,817 7,148 434,211
Trading securities 346 - - 47 393
Investment securities
     Available-for-sale 39,190 13,612 3,644 116 56,562
     Held-to-maturity - 2,353 - 443 2,796
Derivative financial instruments 4,973 773 40 - 5,786
Investments in subsidiaries 6,008 - - - 6,008
Property and equipment 26,321 - - - 26,321
Other assets 862 190 45 83 1,180
Prepayments and accrued income 1,541 512 361 176 2,590
Total assets 330,140 173,510 72,769 11,453 587,872

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Balances due to credit institutions 23,297 63,822 80,265 6,173 173,557
Deposits from the public 211,018 101,475 16,131 3,881 332,505
Derivative financial instruments 5,082 1,475 - - 6,557
Other liabilities 1,376 212 19 117 1,724
Accrued expense 1,680 560 351 27 2,618
Provision for liabilities and charges 3,560 - - - 3,560
Subordinated liabilities - 11,096 - - 11,096
Shareholders’ equity 56,255 - - - 56,255
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 302,268 178,640 96,766 10,198 587,872
Net long/ (short) position on balance sheet 27,872 (5,130) (23,997) 1,255 -

Off-balance sheet claims arising from  foreign
exchange
Spot foreign exchange receivable 906 3,423 5,213 1,268 10,810
Forward foreign exchange receivable 68,448 94,998 22,287 2,427 188,160
Total foreign exchange receivable 69,354 98,421 27,500 3,695 198,970
Off-balance sheet liabilities arising from foreign
exchange
Spot foreign exchange payable 3,725 4,778 1,234 1,060 10,797
Forward foreign exchange payable 98,541 85,627 652 2,539 187,359
Total foreign exchange payable 102,266 90,405 1,886 3,599 198,156
Net long/ (short) position on foreign exchange (32,912) 8,016 25,614 96 814
Net long/ (short) position (5,040) 2,886 1,617 1,351 814

The Bank seeks to match assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies in order to avoid foreign
currency exposures. 

The Latvian banking legislation requires that open positions in each foreign currency may not exceed 10% of the
Bank’s equity (see Note 36 for the definition of equity under the Bank of Latvia’s regulations) and that the total
foreign currency open position may not exceed 20% of the equity.



A/s Latvijas Unibanka
Annual Report

for the year ended 31 December 2001

46

Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 38 Assets, liabilities and memorandum items by maturity profile 

The relationship between the maturity of assets and liabilities is indicative of liquidity risk and the extent to
which it may be necessary to raise funds to meet outstanding obligations. The table below allocates the Bank’s
assets and liabilities to maturity groupings based on the time remaining from the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity dates.

Overdue
Within

1 month
1 – 3

months
3 - 6

months
6 -12

months
1-5

years

Over 5
years 

and
undated

Total

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Assets

Cash and deposits with the Bank of
Latvia

- 34,235 - - - - - 34,235

Balances due from credit institutions - 14,539 7 375 375 2,300 194 17,790
Loans and advances to non-banking

customers
4,993 14,504 30,773 38,572 97,468 221,132 26,769 434,211

Trading securities - - - - - - 393 393
Investment securities
   Available-for-sale - - 239 6,201 1,693 33,856 14,573 56,562
   Held-to-maturity - 46 92 581 277 1,800 - 2,796
Derivative financial instruments - 57 21 501 2,926 2,281 - 5,786
Investments in subsidiaries - - - - - - 6,008 6,008
Property and equipment - - - - - - 26,321 26,321
Other assets - - - - - - 1,180 1,180
Prepayments and accrued income - - - - - - 2,590 2,590
Total assets 4,993 63,381 31,132 46,230 102,739 261,369 78,028 587,872

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Balances due to credit institutions - 52,724 11,217 2,917 20,684 86,015 - 173,557
Deposits from the public - 223,722 38,323 20,863 29,218 14,341 6,038 332,505
Derivative financial instruments - 582 110 78 2,534 3,253 - 6,557
Other liabilities - - - - - - 1,724 1,724
Accrued expense - - - - - - 2,618 2,618
Provision for liabilities and charges - - - - - - 3,560 3,560
Subordinated liabilities - - - - - - 11,096 11,096
Shareholders’ equity - - - - - - 56,255 56,255
Total liabilities and shareholders’

equity
- 277,028 49,650 23,858 52,436 103,609 81,291 587,872

Net liquidity 4,993 (213,647) (18,518) 22,372 50,303 157,760 (3,263) -
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Note 39 Re-pricing maturity of assets and liabilities 

Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the financial position of a bank to a change in market interest rates. In the
normal course of business, a bank encounters interest rate risk as a result of differences within maturities or
interest re-fixing dates of respective interest-sensitive assets and liabilities. The Bank seeks to control this risk
through the activities of the Bank’s Treasury and Asset and Liability management.

Within
1 month

1-3
months

3-6 
months

6-12
months

1-5
years

Over
5

years

Non-
interest
bearing Total

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Assets

Cash and deposits with the Bank of
Latvia

- - - - - - 34,235 34,235

Balances due from credit
institutions

- 14,539 7 375 375 2,300 194 17,790

Loans and advances to non-banking
customers

113,343 269,646 8,736 26,799 10,274 1,995 3,418 434,211

Trading securities - - - - - - 393 393
Investment securities
      Available-for-sale - 1,535 6,200 1,693 32,562 6,172 8,400 56,562
      Held-to-maturity 2,353 - 443 - - - - 2,796
Derivative financial instruments - 57 21 501 2,926 2,281 - 5,786
Investments in subsidiaries - - - - - - 6,008 6,008
Property and equipment - - - - - - 26,321 26,321
Other assets - - - - - - 1,180 1,180
Prepayments and accrued income - - - - - - 2,590 2,590
Total assets 115,696 285,777 15,407 29,368 46,137 12,748 82,739 587,872

Liabilities

Balances due to credit institutions 52,783 88,939 13,884 17,818 133 - - 173,557
Deposits from the public 245,213 35,393 16,776 19,623 9,418 6,038 44 332,505
Derivative financial instruments - 582 2,575 78 2,534 788 - 6,557
Other liabilities - - - - - - 1,724 1,724
Accrued expense - - - - - - 2,618 2,618
Provision for liabilities and charges - - - - - - 3,560 3,560
Subordinated liabilities 11,096 - - - - - - 11,096
Total liabilities 309,092 124,914 33,235 37,519 12,085 6,826 7,946 531,617

Shareholders' equity - - - - - - 56,255 56,255

Total liabilities and shareholders’
equity

309,092 124,914 33,235 37,519 12,085 6,826 64,201 587,872

On balance sheet interest
sensitivity analysis

(193,396) 160,863 (17,828) (8,151) 34,052 5,922 18,538 -
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Note 40 Related party transactions 

Related parties are defined as shareholders who have significant influence over the Bank, members of the
Council and Board of Directors, their close relatives and companies in which they have a controlling interest as
well as associated companies and the parent company. 

The following balances were held with related parties at 31 December 2001 (except for those which are disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements): 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Terms Group Bank Group Bank

% Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000
Total credit exposure to related parties
(excluding intragroup transactions):
Loans and advances to related parties:
- legal entities in which Management of

the Bank own shares 11.2 – 12.4 673 673 555 555
Total credit exposure to related parties 673 673 555 555

 
 Balances due from related credit institutions are analysed as follows:
 

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000

Correspondent accounts with Bank’s parent bank 63 63 383 383
Correspondent accounts with other group credit institutions 344 344 80 80 
Total correspondent accounts 407 407 463 463 
Term deposits at Bank’s parent bank 915 915 1,250 1,250 
Total balances due from related credit institutions 1,322 1,322 1,713 1,713 

 
 Balances due to related credit institutions are analysed as follows:

31/12/01 31/12/00
Group Bank Group Bank

Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000 Ls ‘000

Parent’s correspondent accounts with Bank 123 123 208 208
Correspondent accounts of other group credit institutions 790 790 490 490 
Total correspondent accounts 913 913 698 698 
Parent’s term deposits 54,144 54,144 28,502 28,502 
Other group deposits 190 190 - -
Long-term borrowing from parent bank 70,388 70,388 - -
Total balances due to related credit institutions 125,635 125,635 29,200 29,200 
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